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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CASS INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in Thousands except Share and Per Share Data)

March 31, 2023
(Unaudited)

December 31,
 2022

Assets   
Cash and due from banks $ 28,118 $ 20,995 
Short-term investments 182,360 179,947 

Cash and cash equivalents 210,478 200,942 
Securities available-for-sale, at fair value 703,037 754,468 

Loans 1,070,373 1,082,906 
Less: Allowance for credit losses 13,254 13,539 

Loans, net 1,057,119 1,069,367 
Payments in advance of funding 259,819 293,775 
Premises and equipment, net 20,967 19,958 
Investment in bank-owned life insurance 48,278 47,998 
Goodwill 17,309 17,309 
Other intangible assets, net 3,931 4,126 
Accounts and drafts receivable from customers 37,288 95,779 
Other assets 69,163 69,301 

Total assets $ 2,427,389 $ 2,573,023 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Liabilities:
Deposits:

Noninterest-bearing $ 585,323 $ 642,757 
Interest-bearing 530,827 614,460 

Total deposits 1,116,150 1,257,217 
Accounts and drafts payable 1,051,435 1,067,600 
Other liabilities 42,304 41,881 

Total liabilities 2,209,889 2,366,698 

Shareholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, par value $.50 per share; 2,000,000 shares authorized and no shares issued — — 
Common stock, par value $.50 per share; 40,000,000 shares authorized and 15,505,772 shares issued at

March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022; 13,712,093 and 13,669,656 shares outstanding at March 31, 2023
and December 31, 2022, respectively. 7,753 7,753 

Additional paid-in capital 206,614 207,422 
Retained earnings 134,822 131,682 
Common shares in treasury, at cost (1,793,679 shares at March 31, 2023 and 1,836,116 shares at December 31,

2022) (79,419) (81,211)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (52,270) (59,321)

Total shareholders’ equity 217,500 206,325 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,427,389 $ 2,573,023 

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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CASS INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Unaudited)
(Dollars in Thousands except Per Share Data)

Three Months Ended
 March 31,

2023 2022
Fee Revenue and Other Income:
Processing fees $ 19,513 $ 19,036 
Financial fees 11,259 10,532 
Other 1,335 862 

Total fee revenue and other income 32,107 30,430 

Interest Income:
Interest and fees on loans 12,235 8,777 
Interest and dividends on securities:

Taxable 3,586 1,456 
Exempt from federal income taxes 1,208 1,677 

Interest on federal funds sold and other short-term investments 3,113 216 
Total interest income 20,142 12,126 

Interest Expense:
Interest on deposits 3,171 223 
Interest on short-term borrowings 73 — 

Total interest expense 3,244 223 
Net interest income 16,898 11,903 

 (Release of) provision for credit losses (340) 230 
Net interest income after (release of) provision for credit losses 17,238 11,673 

Total net revenue 49,345 42,103 

Operating Expense:
Personnel 30,026 24,718 
Occupancy 855 915 
Equipment 2,082 1,711 
Amortization of intangible assets 195 135 
Other operating expense 7,214 4,349 

Total operating expense 40,372 31,828 
Income before income tax expense 8,973 10,275 

Income tax expense 1,856 2,017 

Net income $ 7,117 $ 8,258 

Basic earnings per share $ .52 $ .61 
Diluted earnings per share .51 .60 

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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CASS INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Unaudited)
(Dollars in Thousands)

Three Months Ended
 March 31,

2023 2022
Comprehensive Income:
Net income $ 7,117 $ 8,258 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities available-for-sale 9,181 (37,499)
Tax effect (2,185) 8,925 

Reclassification adjustments for gains included in net income (39) — 
Tax effect 9 — 

Foreign currency translation adjustments 85 (1)

Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 14,168 $ (20,317)

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.                                
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CASS INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)
(Dollars in Thousands)

Three Months Ended
 March 31,

2023 2022
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:   
Net income $ 7,117 $ 8,258 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Amortization of intangible assets 195 135 
Net amortization of premium/discount on investment securities 1,219 1,748 
Depreciation 945 1,029 
Gains on sales of securities (39) — 
Stock-based compensation expense 1,950 1,340 
(Release of) provision for credit losses (340) 230 
Increase in current income tax liability 1,704 1,911 
Increase (decrease) in pension liability 101 (640)
Increase in accounts receivable (1,878) (726)
Other operating activities, net (1,681) 1,451 

Net cash provided by operating activities 9,293 14,736 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Proceeds from sales of securities available-for-sale 61,418 — 
Proceeds from maturities of securities available-for-sale 13,164 16,194 
Purchase of securities available-for-sale (15,190) (156,597)
Net decrease (increase) in loans 12,533 (16,500)
Purchase of bank-owned life insurance — (4,000)
Decrease (increase) in payments in advance of funding 33,956 (38,195)
Purchases of premises and equipment, net (1,954) (2,002)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 103,927 (201,100)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Net (decrease) increase in noninterest-bearing demand deposits (57,434) 39,177 
Net decrease in interest-bearing demand and savings deposits (106,201) (80,002)
Net increase (decrease) in time deposits 22,568 (3,743)
Net decrease (increase) in accounts and drafts receivable from customers 58,491 (22,391)
Net decrease in accounts and drafts payable (16,165) (60,663)
Cash dividends paid (3,977) (3,832)
Purchase of common shares for treasury — (5,086)
Other financing activities, net (966) (575)

Net cash used in financing activities (103,684) (137,115)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 9,536 (323,479)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 200,942 514,928 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 210,478 $ 191,449 

Supplemental information:
Cash paid for interest $ 3,135 $ 216 
Cash paid for income taxes 139 109 

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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CASS INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2023 AND 2022
(Unaudited)

(Dollars in Thousands except per share data)

Common
 Stock

Additional
 Paid-in

 Capital
Retained

 Earnings
Treasury

 Stock

Accumulated
 Other

 Comprehensive
 Loss Total

Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 7,753 $ 204,276 $ 112,220 $ (78,904) $ 453 $ 245,798 
Net income 8,258 8,258 
Cash dividends ($.28 per share) (3,832) (3,832)
Issuance of 58,272 common shares pursuant

to stock-based compensation plan, net (1,889) 1,399 (490)
Exercise of SARs (328) 243 (85)
Stock-based compensation expense 1,090 1,090 
Purchase of 124,874 common shares (5,086) (5,086)
Other comprehensive loss (28,575) (28,575)
Balance, March 31, 2022 $ 7,753 $ 203,149 $ 116,646 $ (82,348) $ (28,122) $ 217,078 

Balance, December 31, 2022 $ 7,753 $ 207,422 $ 131,682 $ (81,211) $ (59,321) $ 206,325 
Net income 7,117 7,117 
Cash dividends ($.29 per share) (3,977) (3,977)
Issuance of 61,534 common shares pursuant

to stock-based compensation plan, net (2,520) 1,670 (850)
Exercise of SARs (238) 122 (116)
Stock-based compensation expense 1,950 1,950 
Other comprehensive gain 7,051 7,051 
Balance, March 31, 2023 $ 7,753 $ 206,614 $ 134,822 $ (79,419) $ (52,270) $ 217,500 

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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CASS INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

Note 1 - Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for
interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the
information and notes required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all
adjustments, consisting of normal recurring accruals, considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Certain amounts in prior-period
financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation. Such reclassifications have no effect on previously reported net
income or shareholders’ equity. For further information, refer to the audited consolidated financial statements and related footnotes included in Cass
Information System, Inc.’s (the “Company” or “Cass”) Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Note 2 – Intangible Assets

The Company accounts for intangible assets in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) 350, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which requires that intangibles with indefinite useful lives be tested annually for impairment, or when
management deems there is a triggering event, and those with finite useful lives be amortized over their useful lives.

Details of the Company’s intangible assets are as follows:

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

(In thousands)
Gross Carrying

 Amount
Accumulated 

 Amortization
Gross Carrying 

 Amount
Accumulated 

 Amortization
Assets eligible for amortization:     

Customer lists $ 6,470 $ (4,633) $ 6,470 $ (4,561)
Patents 72 (33) 72 (32)
Software 3,212 (1,614) 3,212 (1,508)
Trade name 373 (49) 373 (42)
Other 500 (367) 500 (358)

Unamortized intangible assets:
Goodwill 17,309 — 17,309 — 

Total intangible assets $ 27,936 $ (6,696) $ 27,936 $ (6,501)

The customer lists are amortized over 7 to 10 years; the patents over 18 years; software over 3 to 7 years, the trade name over 10 to 20 years and other
intangible assets over 15 years. Amortization of intangible assets amounted to $195,000 and $135,000 for the three month periods ended March 31, 2023
and 2022, respectively. Estimated annual amortization of intangibles is $780,000 in 2023, $738,000 in 2024, $730,000 in 2025, $582,000 in 2026, and
$262,000 in 2027.

Note 3 – Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is
computed by dividing net income by the sum of the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding and the weighted-average number of
potential common shares outstanding. Under the treasury stock method, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) are dilutive when the average market price of
the Company’s common stock, combined with the effect of any unamortized compensation expense, exceeds the SAR price during a period.
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The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are as follows:

(In thousands except share and per share data)
Three Months Ended

 March 31,
2023 2022

Basic
Net income $ 7,117 $ 8,258 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 13,599,472 13,577,991 

Basic earnings per share $ 0.52 $ 0.61 
 
Diluted

Net income $ 7,117 $ 8,258 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 13,599,472 13,577,991 
Effect of dilutive restricted stock and stock appreciation rights 263,926 236,233 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding assuming dilution 13,863,398 13,814,224 

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.51 $ 0.60 

Note 4 – Stock Repurchases

The Company maintains a treasury stock buyback program pursuant to which, in October 2021, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to
750,000 shares of the Company’s common stock with no expiration date. As of March 31, 2023, 340,707 shares remained available for repurchase under
the program. The Company repurchased no shares during the three-month period ended March 31, 2023 and 124,874 shares during the three-month period
ended March 31, 2022. Repurchases may be made in the open market or through negotiated transactions from time to time depending on market conditions.

Note 5 – Industry Segment Information

The services provided by the Company are classified into two reportable segments: Information Services and Banking Services. Each of these segments
provides distinct services that are marketed through different channels. They are managed separately due to their unique service and processing
requirements.

The Information Services segment provides transportation, energy, telecommunication, and environmental invoice processing and payment services to large
corporations. In addition, this segment provides church management software and on-line generosity services primarily for faith-based ministries. The
Banking Services segment provides banking services primarily to privately held businesses, franchise restaurants, and faith-based ministries, as well as
supporting the banking needs of the Information Services segment.

The Company’s accounting policies for segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022. Management evaluates segment performance based on tax-equivalized (as defined in
the footnote to the chart on the following table) pre-tax income after allocations for corporate expenses. Transactions between segments are accounted for
at what management believes to be fair value.

Substantially all revenue originates from, and all long-lived assets are located within, the United States and no revenue from any customer of any segment
exceeds 10% of the Company’s consolidated revenue.

Funding sources represent average balances and deposits generated by Information Services and Banking Services and there is no allocation methodology
used. Banking Services interest income is determined by actual interest income on loans minus actual interest expense paid on deposits plus/minus an
allocation for interest income or expense dependent on the remaining available liquidity of the segment. Information Services interest income is determined
by multiplying available liquidity by actual yields on short-term investments and investment securities.

Any difference between total segment interest income and overall total Company interest income is included in Corporate, Eliminations, and Other.
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Summarized information about the Company’s operations in each industry segment is as follows:

(In thousands)
Information

 Services
Banking

 Services

Corporate,
 Eliminations
 and Other Total

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023:
Fee income $ 31,077 $ 711 $ 319 $ 32,107 
Interest income* 9,447 13,177 (2,482) 20,142 
Interest expense 98 5,433 (2,287) 3,244 
Intersegment income (expense) (914) 914 — — 
Tax-equivalized pre-tax income* 4,991 3,859 123 8,973 
Goodwill 17,173 136 — 17,309 
Other intangible assets, net 3,931 — — 3,931 
Total assets 1,526,001 1,167,979 (266,591) 2,427,389 
Average funding sources 1,357,035 882,892 — 2,239,927 

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022:
Fee income $ 29,184 $ 953 $ 293 $ 30,430 
Interest income* 4,350 8,853 (1,077) 12,126 
Interest expense 6 225 (8) 223 
Intersegment income (expense) (764) 764 — — 
Tax-equivalized pre-tax income* 5,890 5,161 (776) 10,275 
Goodwill 14,126 136 — 14,262 
Other intangible assets, net 2,429 — — 2,429 
Total assets 1,338,342 1,088,025 (4,324) 2,422,043 
Average funding sources 1,288,407 966,820 — 2,255,227 

* Presented on a tax-equivalent basis assuming a tax rate of 21% for both 2023 and 2022. The tax-equivalent adjustment was approximately $321,000 and $446,000 for the first quarter of 2023
and 2022, respectively.

Note 6 – Loans by Type

A summary of loans is as follows:

(In thousands)
March 31,

 2023
December 31,

 2022
Commercial and industrial $ 548,923 $ 561,616 
Real estate:

Commercial:
Mortgage 116,202 108,166 
Construction 19,075 17,874 

Faith-based:
Mortgage 376,630 387,114 
Construction 9,538 8,094 

Other 5 42 
Total loans $ 1,070,373 $ 1,082,906 
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The following table presents the aging of loans past due by category at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

Performing Nonperforming

(In thousands) Current
30-59

 Days
60-89

 Days

90
 Days

 and
 Over

Non-
 accrual

Total
 Loans

March 31, 2023
Commercial and industrial $ 548,923 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 548,923 
Real estate

Commercial:
Mortgage 116,202 — — — — 116,202 
Construction 19,075 — — — — 19,075 

Faith-based:
Mortgage 376,630 — — — — 376,630 
Construction 9,538 — — — — 9,538 

Other 5 — — — — 5 
Total $ 1,070,373 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 1,070,373 
December 31, 2022
Commercial and industrial $ 560,466 $ — $ — $ — $ 1,150 $ 561,616 
Real estate

Commercial:
Mortgage 108,166 — — — — 108,166 
Construction 17,874 — — — — 17,874 

Faith-based:
Mortgage 387,114 — — — — 387,114 
Construction 8,094 — — — — 8,094 

Other 42 — — — — 42 
Total $ 1,081,756 $ — $ — $ — $ 1,150 $ 1,082,906 
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The following table presents the credit exposure of the loan portfolio by internally assigned credit grade as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

(In thousands)

Loans
Subject to

Normal
Monitoring

Performing
Loans Subject

to Special
Monitoring

Nonperforming
Loans Subject

to Special
Monitoring Total Loans

March 31, 2023
Commercial and industrial $ 537,698 $ 11,225 $ — $ 548,923 
Real estate

Commercial:
Mortgage 116,202 — — 116,202 
Construction 19,075 — — 19,075 

Faith-based:
Mortgage 372,951 3,679 — 376,630 
Construction 9,538 — — 9,538 

Other 5 — — 5 
Total $ 1,055,469 $ 14,904 $ — $ 1,070,373 
December 31, 2022
Commercial and industrial $ 549,241 $ 11,225 $ 1,150 $ 561,616 
Real estate

Commercial:
Mortgage 108,166 — — 108,166 
Construction 17,874 — — 17,874 

Faith-based:
Mortgage 386,169 945 — 387,114 
Construction 8,094 — — 8,094 

Other 42 — — 42 
Total $ 1,069,586 $ 12,170 $ 1,150 $ 1,082,906 

 Loans subject to normal monitoring involve borrowers of acceptable-to-strong credit quality and risk, who have the apparent ability to satisfy their loan
obligations.
 Loans subject to special monitoring possess some credit deficiency or potential weakness which requires a high level of management attention.

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2022-02, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Troubled Debt Restructurings
and Vintage Disclosures ("ASU 2022-02") effective January 1, 2023. The amendments in ASU 2022-02 eliminated the recognition and measure of troubled
debt restructurings and enhanced disclosures for loan modifications to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. In some cases, these modifications may
result in new loans. Loan modifications to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty may be in the form of principal forgiveness, an interest rate
reduction, an other-than-insignificant payment delay, a term extension, or a combination thereof, among other things.

The following table shows the amortized cost of loans at March 31, 2023 that were both experiencing financial difficulty and modified during the three
months ended March 31, 2023, segregated by category and type of modification.

1 2 2

1

2
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(In thousands) Payment Delay Term Extension
Interest Rate

Reduction

Combination
Term Extension

and Interest Rate
Reduction

Percentage of Total
Loans Held for

Investment
March 31, 2023
Commercial and industrial $ — $ 11,225 $ — $ — 2.04 %
Total $ — $ 11,225 $ — $ — 1.05 %

There were two loans modified during the three months ended March 31, 2023. The terms were extended by periods of two and three years and there was
not an interest rate reduction associated with the modifications.

The following table shows the performance of loans that have been modified to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty during the three months ended
March 31, 2023.

(In thousands) Current
30-59 Days Past

Due
60-89 Days Past

Due
90 Days or More

Past Due Total Past Due
March 31, 2023
Commercial and industrial $ 11,225 $ — $ — $ — $ — 
Total $ 11,225 $ — $ — $ — $ — 

There were no modified loans that had a payment default during the three months ended March 31, 2023 and that had been modified due to the borrower
experiencing financial difficulty within the 12 previous months preceding the default.

Upon the Company's determination that a modified loan has subsequently been deemed uncollectible, the loan is written off. There were no loans written
off during the three months ended March 31, 2023.

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2022-02, there were no loans considered troubled debt restructurings as of March 31, 2022 or December 31, 2022.

The Company had no loans evaluated for expected credit losses on an individual basis as of March 31, 2023 or December 31, 2022. There were no
foreclosed loans recorded as other real estate owned as of March 31, 2023 or December 31, 2022.

A summary of the activity in the allowance for credit losses (“ACL”) by category for the three-month period ended March 31, 2023 and year-ended
December 31, 2022 is as follows:

(In thousands) C&I CRE
Faith-based

 CRE Construction Total
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 5,034 $ 1,031 $ 5,684 $ 292 $ 12,041 
Provision for (release of) credit losses 931 (91) 753 (108) 1,485 
Recoveries 13 — — — 13 
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 5,978 $ 940 $ 6,437 $ 184 $ 13,539 
(Release of) provision for credit losses (68) 77 (314) 20 (285)
Recoveries — — — — — 
Balance at March 31, 2023 $ 5,910 $ 1,017 $ 6,123 $ 204 $ 13,254 

(1) For the three-month period ended March 31, 2023 and year-ended December 31, 2022, there was a release of credit losses of $55,000 and
$135,000, respectively, for unfunded commitments.

Note 7 – Commitments and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Company is party to activities that contain credit, market and operational risks that are not reflected in whole or in part
in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Such activities include traditional off-balance sheet credit-related financial instruments and
commitments under operating leases. These financial instruments

(1)
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include commitments to extend credit, commercial letters of credit and standby letters of credit. The Company’s maximum potential exposure to credit loss
in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for commitments to extend credit, commercial letters of credit and standby
letters of credit is represented by the contractual amounts of those instruments. An allowance for unfunded commitments of $177,000 and $232,000 had
been recorded at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the contract. Commercial
and standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Company or its subsidiaries to guarantee the performance of a customer to a third
party. These off-balance sheet financial instruments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee. At
March 31, 2023, the balances of unfunded commitments, standby and commercial letters of credit were $233.9 million, $14.3 million, and $1.2 million,
respectively. Since some of the financial instruments may expire without being drawn upon, the total amounts do not necessarily represent future cash
requirements. Commitments to extend credit and letters of credit are subject to the same underwriting standards as those financial instruments included on
the consolidated balance sheets. The Company evaluates each customer’s credit worthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if
deemed necessary upon extension of the credit, is based on management’s credit evaluation of the borrower. Collateral held varies, but is generally
accounts receivable, inventory, residential or income-producing commercial property or equipment. In the event of nonperformance, the Company or its
subsidiaries may obtain and liquidate the collateral to recover amounts paid under guarantees on these financial instruments.

Note 8 – Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation awards have historically been issued under the Company's Amended and Restated Omnibus Stock and Performance
Compensation Plan (the "Prior Plan"), which was amended and last approved by shareholders in 2013. The Company may issue shares out of treasury stock
for these awards. During the three months ended March 31, 2023, 35,035 restricted shares and 48,262 performance-based restricted shares were granted
under the Prior Plan. Stock-based compensation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 was $2.0 million and $1.3 million,
respectively.

On February 16, 2023, the Board of Directors adopted the 2023 Omnibus Stock and Performance Compensation Plan (the "2023 Omnibus Plan") to replace
the Prior Plan, subject to shareholder approval which occurred on April 18, 2023. Subsequent to this date, the Company will issue stock-based
compensation awards under the 2023 Omnibus Plan.

Restricted Stock

Restricted shares granted to Company employees are amortized to expense over a three-year cliff vesting period, or until vesting occurs upon retirement.
Restricted shares granted to members of the Board of Directors are amortized to expense over a one-year service period, with the exception of those shares
granted in lieu of cash payments for retainer fees which are expensed in the period earned.

As of March 31, 2023, the total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested restricted shares was $2.2 million, and the related weighted-
average period over which it is expected to be recognized is approximately 0.87 years.

Following is a summary of the activity of the Company's restricted stock for the three months ended March 31, 2023, with total shares and weighted-
average fair value:

Three Months Ended
 March 31, 2023

Shares Fair Value
Balance at December 31, 2022 205,565 $ 42.64 
Granted 35,035 48.68 
Vested (20,233) 54.02 
Forfeitures — — 
Balance at March 31, 2023 220,367 $ 42.56 
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Performance-Based Restricted Stock

The Company has granted three-year performance-based restricted stock (“PBRS”) awards which are contingent upon the Company’s achievement of pre-
established financial goals over a three-year cliff vest period. The number of shares issued ranges from 0% to 150% of the target opportunity based on the
actual achievement of financial goals for the three-year performance period.

Following is a summary of the activity of the PBRS for the three months ended March 31, 2023, based on 100% of target value:

Three Months Ended
 March 31, 2023

Shares Fair Value
Balance at December 31, 2022 138,785 $ 43.19 
Granted 48,262 48.89 
Vested (30,567) 54.02 
Forfeitures — — 
Balance at March 31, 2023 156,480 $ 42.83 

The PBRS that vested during the three months ended March 31, 2023 were based on the Company's achievement of 86.7% of target financial goals,
resulting in the issuance of 26,499 shares of common stock. The outstanding PBRS at March 31, 2023 will vest at scheduled vesting dates and the actual
number of shares of common stock issued will range from 0% to 150% of the target opportunity based on the actual achievement of financial goals for the
respective three-year performance period.

SARs

There were no SARs granted and no expense recognized during the three months ended March 31, 2023. Following is a summary of the activity of the
Company’s SARs program for the three months ended March 31, 2023:

Shares

Weighted-
 Average

 Exercise
 Price

Average
 Remaining

 Contractual
 Term Years

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(In thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2022 46,325 $ 41.62 0.73 $ 192 
Exercised (15,916) 31.92 — — 
Exercisable at March 31, 2023 30,409 $ 46.70 0.84 $ — 

All SARs were vested at March 31, 2023.

Note 9 – Defined Pension Plans

The Company has a noncontributory defined-benefit pension plan (the “Plan”), which covers eligible employees. Effective December 31, 2016, the Plan
was closed to all new participants. Additionally, the Plan’s benefits were frozen for all remaining participants as of February 28, 2021. As such, subsequent
to February 28, 2021, there is no service cost associated with the Plan. The following table represents the components of net periodic pension cost (benefit):

(In thousands)
Estimated

2023 Actual 2022
Interest cost on projected benefit obligations $ 4,375 $ 3,293 
Expected return on plan assets (3,977) (5,857)

Net periodic pension cost (benefit) $ 398 $ (2,564)

The Company recorded a net periodic pension cost of $135,000 for the three-month period ended March 31, 2023, and a net periodic pension benefit of
$618,000 for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022. The Company made no
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contributions to the Plan during the three-month period ended March 31, 2023 and is evaluating the amount of contributions, if any, for the remainder of
2023.

In addition to the above funded defined-benefit pension plan, the Company has an unfunded supplemental executive retirement plan (the "SERP"). There
are no current employees earning benefits and therefore, there is no service cost associated with the SERP. The following table represents the components
of the net periodic cost for the SERP:

(In thousands)
Estimated

2023
Actual
2022

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation $ 472 $ 318 
Net amortization — 108 

Net periodic pension cost $ 472 $ 426 

SERP cost recorded to expense was $118,000 and $107,000 for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, respectively.

Note 10 – Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was 20.7% and 19.6% for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The effective tax rate for all periods
differs from the statutory rate of 21% primarily due to the tax-exempt interest received from municipal bonds and bank-owned life insurance, among other
factors. The increase in the effective tax rate for the three-month period ended March 31, 2023 as compared to the same period of 2022 is primarily a result
of lower tax-exempt income.

Note 11 – Investment in Securities

Investment securities available-for-sale are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company’s investment securities available-for-sale are measured
at fair value using Level 2 valuations. The market evaluation utilizes several sources which include “observable inputs” rather than “significant
unobservable inputs” and therefore fall into the Level 2 category. The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair value of
investment securities are summarized as follows:

March 31, 2023

(In thousands)
Amortized

 Cost  

Gross
 Unrealized

 Gains  

Gross
 Unrealized

 Losses  
Fair

 Value
State and political subdivisions $ 247,798 $ 52 $ 17,568 $ 230,282 
Mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S.
government agencies or sponsored enterprises 201,094 — 29,554 171,540 
Corporate bonds 111,290 19 9,643 101,666 
Treasury securities 159,244 — 2,769 156,475 
Asset backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. government
agencies or sponsored enterprises 45,048 — 1,974 43,074 

Total $ 764,474 $ 71 $ 61,508 $ 703,037 
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December 31, 2022

(In thousands)
Amortized

 Cost

Gross
 Unrealized

 Gains

Gross
 Unrealized

 Losses Fair Value
State and political subdivisions $ 317,376 $ 54 $ 22,304 $ 295,126 
Mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S.
government agencies or sponsored enterprises 205,175 — 31,236 173,939 
Corporate bonds 96,348 — 11,251 85,097 
Treasury securities 158,935 — 3,652 155,283 
Asset backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. government
agencies or sponsored enterprises 47,213 — 2,190 45,023 

Total $ 825,047 $ 54 $ 70,633 $ 754,468 

The fair values of securities with unrealized losses are as follows:

March 31, 2023
Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total

(In thousands)
Estimated

 Fair Value  
Unrealized

 Losses  
Estimated

 Fair Value
Unrealized

 Losses  
Estimated

 Fair Value  
Unrealized

 Losses
State and political subdivisions $ 80,551 $ 387 $ 114,603 $ 17,181 $ 195,154 $ 17,568 
Mortgage-backed securities issued or
guaranteed by U.S. government agencies
or sponsored enterprises 12,346 443 159,194 29,111 171,540 29,554 
Corporate bonds 5,000 — 81,647 9,643 86,647 9,643 
Treasury securities 156,474 2,769 — — 156,474 2,769 
Asset backed securities issued or
guaranteed by U.S. government agencies
or sponsored enterprises — — 43,075 1,974 43,075 1,974 

Total $ 254,371 $ 3,599 $ 398,519 $ 57,909 $ 652,890 $ 61,508 

December 31, 2022
Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total

(In thousands)
Estimated

 Fair Value  
Unrealized

 Losses  
Estimated

 Fair Value
Unrealized

 Losses  
Estimated

 Fair Value  
Unrealized

 Losses
State and political subdivisions $ 214,919 $ 8,958 $ 47,474 $ 13,346 $ 262,393 $ 22,304 
Mortgage-backed securities issued or
guaranteed by U.S. government agencies
or sponsored enterprises 53,732 6,135 118,017 25,101 171,749 31,236 
Corporate bonds 32,517 3,629 47,580 7,622 80,097 11,251 
Treasury securities 155,283 3,652 — — 155,283 3,652 
Asset backed securities issued or
guaranteed by U.S. government agencies
or sponsored enterprises — — 47,213 2,190 47,213 2,190 

Total $ 456,451 $ 22,374 $ 260,284 $ 48,259 $ 716,735 $ 70,633 

There were 250 securities, or 86.8% (176 of which for greater than 12 months), in an unrealized loss position as of March 31, 2023. The unrealized losses
at March 31, 2023 were primarily attributable to changes in market interest rates
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after the securities were purchased. The Company does not currently intend to sell and, based on current conditions, the Company does not believe it will
be required to sell these available-for-sale securities before the recovery of the amortized cost basis, which may be the maturity dates of the securities.
Therefore, the unrealized losses are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss. There were 311 securities, or 29.8% (101 of which for greater than
12 months), in an unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2022. At March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had not recorded an
allowance for credit losses on securities.

The amortized cost and fair value of investment securities by contractual maturity are shown in the following table. Expected maturities may differ from
contractual maturities because borrowers have the right to prepay obligations with or without prepayment penalties.

March 31, 2023
(In thousands) Amortized Cost Fair Value
Due in 1 year or less $ 86,522 $ 85,645 
Due after 1 year through 5 years 221,691 218,313 
Due after 5 years through 10 years 205,475 182,676 
Due after 10 years 250,786 216,403 

Total $ 764,474 $ 703,037 

Proceeds from sales of investment securities classified as available-for-sale were $61.4 million and $0 for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively. Gross realized gains were $39,000 and $0 for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. There were no securities
pledged to secure public deposits or for other purposes at March 31, 2023.

Note 12 – Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Following is a summary of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s financial instruments:

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

(In thousands)
Carrying

 Amount Fair Value
Carrying

 Amount Fair Value
Balance sheet assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 210,478 $ 210,478 $ 200,942 $ 200,942 
Investment securities 703,037 703,037 754,468 754,468 
Loans, net 1,057,119 977,053 1,069,367 1,004,682 
Accrued interest receivable 7,508 7,508 8,297 8,297 

Total $ 1,978,142 $ 1,898,076 $ 2,033,074 $ 1,968,389 
Balance sheet liabilities:

Deposits $ 1,116,150 $ 1,116,150 $ 1,257,217 $ 1,257,217 
Accounts and drafts payable 1,051,435 1,051,435 1,067,600 1,067,600 
Accrued interest payable 176 176 66 66 

Total $ 2,167,761 $ 2,167,761 $ 2,324,883 $ 2,324,883 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate
that value:

Cash and Cash Equivalents - The carrying amount approximates fair value.

Investment in Securities - The fair value is measured on a recurring basis using Level 2 valuations. Refer to Note 11, “Investment in Securities,” for fair
value and unrealized gains and losses by investment type.
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Loans - The fair value is estimated using present values of future cash flows discounted at risk-adjusted interest rates for each loan category designated by
management and is therefore a Level 3 valuation. Management believes that the risk factor embedded in the interest rates along with the allowance for
credit losses result in a fair valuation.

Accrued Interest Receivable - The carrying amount approximates fair value.

Deposits - The fair value of demand deposits, savings deposits and certain money market deposits is the amount payable on demand at the reporting date.
The fair value of fixed-maturity certificates of deposit is estimated using the rates currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities and
therefore, is a Level 2 valuation. The fair value estimates above do not include the benefit that results from the low-cost funding provided by the deposit
liabilities compared to the cost of borrowing funds in the market or the benefit derived from the customer relationship inherent in existing deposits.

Accounts and Drafts Payable - The carrying amount approximates fair value.

Accrued Interest Payable - The carrying amount approximates fair value.

Note 13 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Revenue is recognized as the obligation to the customer is satisfied. The following is detail of the Company’s revenue from contracts with clients.

Processing fees – The Company earns fees on a per-item or monthly basis for the invoice processing services rendered on behalf of customers. Per-item
fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance obligation is satisfied. Monthly fees are earned over the course of a month, representing the
period over which the performance obligation is satisfied. The contracts have no significant impact of variable consideration and no significant financing
components.

Financial fees – The Company earns fees on a transaction level basis for invoice payment services when making customer payments. Fees are recognized
at the point in time when the payment transactions are made, which is when the performance obligation is satisfied. The contracts have no significant
impact of variable consideration and no significant financing components.

Bank service fees – Revenue from service fees consists of service charges and fees on deposit accounts under depository agreements with customers to
provide access to deposited funds. Service charges on deposit accounts are transaction-based fees that are recognized at the point in time when the
performance obligation is satisfied. Service charges are recognized on a monthly basis representing the period over which the performance obligation is
satisfied. The contracts have no significant impact of variable consideration and no significant financing components.

For the Three Months Ended March
31,

(In thousands) 2023 2022
Fee revenue and other income

In-scope of FASB ASC 606
Processing fees $ 19,513 $ 19,036 
Financial fees 11,259 10,532 

Information services payment and processing revenue 30,772 29,568 
Bank service fees 264 429 

Fee revenue (in-scope of FASB ASC 606) 31,036 29,997 
Other income (out-of-scope of FASB ASC 606) 1,071 433 

Total fee revenue and other income $ 32,107 $ 30,430 

Note 14 – Leases

The Company leases certain premises under operating leases. As of March 31, 2023, the Company had lease liabilities of $9.3 million and right-of-use
assets of $8.9 million. Lease liabilities and right-of-use assets are reflected in other liabilities and other assets, respectively. Presented within occupancy
expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income for the three months ended March 31, 2023, operating lease cost was $357,000, short-term lease cost
was $53,000, and there was no variable lease cost. At March 31, 2023, the weighted-average remaining lease term for the operating leases was 8.0 years
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and the weighted-average discount rate used in the measurement of operating lease liabilities was 3.58%. Certain of the Company’s leases contain options
to renew the lease; however, these renewal options are not included in the calculation of the lease liabilities as they are not reasonably certain to be
exercised. See the Company’s 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K for information regarding these commitments.

A maturity analysis of operating lease liabilities and undiscounted cash flows as of March 31, 2023 is as follows:

(In thousands)
March 31,

 2023
Lease payments due

Less than 1 year $ 1,349 
1-2 years 1,326 
2-3 years 1,352 
3-4 years 1,347 
4-5 years 1,364 
Over 5 years 3,875 

Total undiscounted cash flows 10,613 
Discount on cash flows 1,363 

Total lease liability $ 9,250 

There were no sale and leaseback transactions, leveraged leases, or lease transactions with related parties during the three months ended March 31, 2023.

Note 15 – Subsequent Events

In accordance with FASB ASC 855, Subsequent Events, the Company has evaluated subsequent events after the consolidated balance sheet date of
March 31, 2023. There were no events identified that would require additional disclosures to prevent the Company’s unaudited consolidated financial
statements from being misleading.

-20-



Table of Contents

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Cass Information Systems, Inc. ("Cass" or the "Company") provides payment and information processing services to large manufacturing, distribution and
retail enterprises across the United States. The Company’s services include freight invoice rating, payment processing, auditing, and the generation of
accounting and transportation information. Cass also processes and pays facility-related invoices, which include electricity and gas as well as waste and
telecommunications expenses, and is a provider of telecom expense management solutions. Cass solutions include integrated payments, a B2B payment
platform for clients that require an agile fintech partner. Additionally, the Company offers a church management software solution and an on-line platform
to provide generosity services for faith-based and non-profit organizations. The Company’s bank subsidiary, Cass Commercial Bank (the “Bank”), supports
the Company’s payment operations. The Bank also provides banking services to its target markets, which include privately held businesses in the St. Louis
metropolitan area and restaurant franchises and faith-based ministries within the United States.

The specific payment and information processing services provided to each customer are developed individually to meet each customer’s requirements,
which can vary greatly. In addition, the degree of automation such as electronic data interchange, imaging, work flow, and web-based solutions varies
greatly among customers and industries. These factors combine so that pricing varies greatly among the customer base. In general, however, Cass is
compensated for its processing services through service fees, transactional level payment services, and investment of account balances generated during the
payment process. The amount, type, and calculation of service fees vary greatly by service offering, but generally follow the volume of transactions
processed. Transactional level payment services and interest income from the balances generated during the payment processing cycle are affected by the
amount of time Cass holds the funds prior to payment and the dollar volume processed. Both the number of transactions processed and the dollar volume
processed are therefore key metrics followed by management. Other factors will also influence revenue and profitability, such as changes in the general
level of interest rates, which have a significant effect on net interest income. The funds generated by these processing activities are invested in overnight
investments, investment grade securities, advances to payees, and loans generated by the Bank. The Bank earns most of its revenue from net interest
income, or the difference between the interest earned on its loans and investments and the interest paid on its deposits and other borrowings. The Bank also
assesses fees on other services such as cash management services.

Industry-wide factors that impact the Company include the willingness of large corporations to outsource key business functions such as freight, energy,
telecommunication and environmental payment and audit. The benefits that can be achieved by outsourcing transaction processing, and the management
information generated by Cass systems can be influenced by factors such as the competitive pressures within industries to improve profitability, the general
level of transportation costs, deregulation of energy costs, and consolidation of telecommunication providers. Economic factors that impact the Company
include the general level of economic activity that can affect the volume and size of invoices processed, the ability to hire and retain qualified staff, and the
growth and quality of the loan portfolio. The general level of interest rates also has a significant effect on the revenue of the Company. As discussed in
greater detail in Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” in the Company’s 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K, a decline in
the general level of interest rates can have a negative impact on net interest income and conversely, a rise in the general level of interest rates can have a
positive impact on net interest income. The cost of fuel is another factor that has a significant impact on the transportation sector. As the price of fuel goes
up or down, the Company’s earnings increase or decrease with the dollar amount of transportation invoices.

Currently, management views Cass’ major opportunity as the continued expansion of its payment and information processing service offerings and
customer base. Management intends to accomplish this by maintaining the Company’s leadership position in applied technology, which when combined
with the security and processing controls of the Bank, makes Cass unique in the industry.

Recent Industry Developments

During the first quarter of 2023, the banking industry experienced significant volatility with high-profile bank failures and industry wide concerns related
to liquidity, deposit outflows, unrealized securities losses and eroding consumer confidence in the banking system. Despite these negative industry
developments, the Company’s liquidity position and balance sheet remains strong. The Company had cash and cash equivalents of $210.5 million at March
31, 2023. In addition, all of the Company's investment securities are classified as available-for-sale and the Company expects to generate approximately
$232.5 million of cash flows through amortization and maturities of investment securities within the next 16 months. The
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Company also took a number of preemptive actions, which included proactive outreach to clients and actions to maximize its funding sources in response
to these recent developments. The Company remains well-capitalized and has no nonperforming loans.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company has prepared the consolidated financial statements in this report in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting
Standards Codification. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount
of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. These estimates have been generally accurate in the past, have been consistent and have not required any material
changes. There can be no assurances that actual results will not differ from those estimates. The accounting policy that requires significant management
estimates and is deemed critical to the Company’s results of operations or financial position has been discussed with the Audit and Risk Committee of the
Board of Directors and is described below.

Allowance for Credit Losses. The Company performs periodic and systematic detailed reviews of its loan portfolio to determine management’s estimate of
the lifetime expected credit losses. Although these estimates are based on established methodologies for determining allowance requirements, actual results
can differ significantly from estimated results. These policies affect both segments of the Company. The impact and associated risks related to these
policies on the Company’s business operations are discussed in the “Provision and Allowance for Credit Losses and Allowance for Unfunded
Commitments” section of this report.

Results of Operations

The following paragraphs more fully discuss the results of operations and changes in financial condition for the three-month period ended March 31, 2023
(“First Quarter of 2023”) compared to the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 (“First Quarter of 2022”). The following discussion and analysis
should be read in conjunction with the unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes and with the statistical information and financial data
appearing in this report, as well as in the Company’s 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Results of operations for the First Quarter of 2023 are not
necessarily indicative of the results to be attained for any other period.

Summary of Results

The following table summarizes the Company’s operating results:

(In thousands except per share data)

First Quarter of

2023 2022
%

 Change
Processing fees $ 19,513 $ 19,036 2.5 %
Financial fees 11,259 10,532 6.9 %
Net interest income 16,898 11,903 42.0 %
(Release of) provision for credit loss (340) 230 (247.8)%
Other 1,335 862 54.9 %
Total revenues 49,345 42,103 17.2 %
Operating expense 40,372 31,828 26.8 %
Income before income tax expense 8,973 10,275 (12.7)%
Income tax expense 1,856 2,017 (8.0)%
Net income $ 7,117 $ 8,258 (13.8)%
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.51 $ 0.60 (15.0)%
Return on average assets 1.15 % 1.32 % —
Return on average equity 13.76 % 14.21 % —

The Company recorded revenue of $49.3 million during the three months ended March 31, 2023, up 17.2% from the three months ended March 31, 2022,
primarily driven by rising interest rates which positively impacted net interest income and financial fees. Operating expense increased 26.8% primarily
driven by an increase in full-time equivalent employees and
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other expenses due to strategic investment in technology initiatives. Net income was $7.1 million and diluted EPS was $0.51 per share, decreases of 13.8%
and 15.0% from the three months ended March 31, 2022, respectively.

The Company posted a 1.15% return on average assets and 13.76% return on average equity.

Fee Revenue and Other Income

The Company’s fee revenue is derived mainly from transportation and facility processing and financial fees. As the Company provides its processing and
payment services, it is compensated by service fees which are typically calculated on a per-item basis, discounts received for services provided to carriers
and by the accounts and drafts payable balances generated in the payment process which can be used to generate interest income. Processing volumes,
average payments in advance of funding, and fee revenue were as follows:

(In thousands)

First Quarter of

2023 2022
%

 Change
Transportation invoice volume 9,098 8,958 1.6 %
Transportation invoice dollar volume $ 10,268,451 $ 10,855,180 (5.4)%
Facility-related transaction volume 3,468 3,293 5.3 %
Facility-related dollar volume $ 5,313,385 $ 4,643,942 14.4 %
Average payments in advance of funding $ 240,890 $ 279,479 (13.8)%
Processing fees $ 19,513 $ 19,036 2.5 %
Financial fees $ 11,259 $ 10,532 6.9 %
Other fees $ 1,335 $ 862 54.9 %
1. Facility expense transaction volumes have been restated for the prior period to reflect total invoices processed. Previously, billing account numbers were utilized for the telecom division as

a proxy for transactions.
2. Includes energy, telecom and environmental.

First Quarter of 2023 compared to First Quarter of 2022:

Financial fee revenue increased $727,000, or 6.9%, primarily attributable to the increase in short-term interest rates and increase in facility-related dollar
volume of 14.4%, partially offset by a decline in transportation dollar volumes of 5.4%.

Processing fee revenue increased $477,000, or 2.5%, primarily attributable to the increase in transportation and facility-related transaction volumes of 1.6%
and 5.3%, respectively.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income is the difference between interest earned on loans, investments, and other earning assets and interest expense on deposits and other
interest-bearing liabilities. Net interest income is a significant source of the Company’s revenues. The following table summarizes the changes in tax-
equivalent net interest income and related factors:

(In thousands)

First Quarter of

2023 2022
%

 Change
Average earnings assets $ 2,162,734 $ 2,122,915 1.9 %
Average interest-bearing liabilities 591,102 593,057 (0.3)%
Net interest income* 17,219 12,349 39.4 %
Net interest margin* 3.23 % 2.36 %
Yield on earning assets* 3.84 % 2.40 %
Cost of interest-bearing liabilities 2.20 % 0.15 %

*Presented on a tax-equivalent basis assuming a tax rate of 21% for both 2023 and 2022.

1 2

2
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First Quarter of 2023 compared to First Quarter of 2022:

The increase in net interest income is primarily due to the Federal Reserve's actions to increase the Federal Funds rate throughout 2022 and into the first
quarter of 2023, positively affecting the net interest margin which increased to 3.23% as compared to 2.36% in the prior year. Additionally, average earning
assets increased $39.8 million, or 1.9%, and contributed to the increase in net interest income. The yield on interest-earning assets increased 144 basis
points from 2.40% to 3.84% while the cost of interest-bearing liabilities increased 205 basis points from 0.15% to 2.20%.

Average loans increased $116.3 million, or 12.1%, to $1.1 billion. This increase was due to loan growth during 2022, specifically in the Company's
franchise restaurants, faith-based, and lease financing receivables portfolios. The average yield on loans increased 90 basis points to 4.61% primarily due to
the increase in short-term interest rates.

Average investment securities increased $101.0 million, or 14.6%, as cash provided by increases in funding sources was utilized to purchase investment
securities. The average yield on taxable investment securities increased 105 basis points to 2.54% as a result of the increase in short and long-term interest
rates. The average yield on tax-exempt investment securities declined 10 basis points to 2.82%. These securities are longer term fixed rate and do not
reprice as quickly in a rising interest rate environment.

Average short-term investments, consisting of interest-bearing deposits in other financial institutions and federal funds sold, decreased $177.5 million, or
37.6%. The decrease is primarily a result of the increase in the average balances of investment securities and loans. The average yield on short-term
investments increased 409 basis points to 4.28% primarily due to the increase in short-term interest rates that began in March 2022. The vast majority of
these short-term investments are held at the Federal Reserve Bank.

The average balance of interest-bearing deposits decreased $2.0 million, or 0.3%. The average rate paid on interest-bearing deposits increased 203 basis
points to 2.18% due to the increase in short-term interest rates.

Average demand deposits decreased $20.4 million, or 3.6%. The decrease was driven by deposit attrition as larger depository clients moved their funds to
higher interest rate alternatives.

Average accounts and drafts payable increased $7.1 million, or 0.7%. The increase in average accounts and drafts payable was primarily driven by the
increase in facility expense dollar volumes of 14.4%, partially offset by the decrease in transportation dollar volumes of 5.4%.

Distribution of Assets, Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity; Interest Rate and Interest Differential

The following tables show the condensed average balance sheets for each of the periods reported, the tax-equivalent interest income and expense for each
category of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, and the average yield on such categories of interest-earning assets and the average rates
paid on such categories of interest-bearing liabilities for each of the periods reported.
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(In thousands)

First Quarter of 2023 First Quarter of 2022

Average
  Balance

Interest
  Income/
  Expense

Yield/
  Rate

Average
  Balance

Interest
  Income/
  Expense

Yield/
  Rate

Assets
Interest-earning assets
Loans : $ 1,076,221 $ 12,235 4.61 % $ 959,851 $ 8,777 3.71 %
Investment securities :

Taxable 571,673 3,586 2.54 % 395,233 1,456 1.49 %
Tax-exempt 219,690 1,529 2.82 % 295,152 2,123 2.92 %

Short-term investments 295,150 3,113 4.28 % 472,679 216 0.19 %
Total interest-earning assets 2,162,734 20,463 3.84 % 2,122,915 12,572 2.40 %
Non-interest-earning assets  

Cash and due from banks 22,044 22,781 
Premises and equipment, net 20,433 18,706 
Bank-owned life insurance 48,111 43,167 
Goodwill and other intangibles 21,355 16,772 
Payments in advance of funding 240,890 279,479 
Unrealized loss on investment securities (66,525) (1,347)
Other assets 63,834 37,836 
Allowance for credit losses (13,535) (12,046)

Total assets $ 2,499,341 $ 2,528,263 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Interest-bearing liabilities  

Interest-bearing demand deposits $ 523,410 $ 2,824 2.19 % $ 530,491 $ 136 0.10 %
Savings deposits 7,102 22 1.26 % 17,488 2 0.05 %
Time deposits >= $100 23,803 110 1.87 % 17,928 41 0.93 %
Other time deposits 36,787 215 2.37 % 27,150 44 0.66 %

Total interest-bearing deposits 591,102 3,171 2.18 % 593,057 223 0.15 %
Short-term borrowings 5,833 73 5.08 % — — — %
Total interest-bearing liabilities 596,935 3,244 2.20 % 593,057 223 0.15 %
Non-interest bearing liabilities

Demand deposits 553,644 574,064 
Accounts and drafts payable 1,095,182 1,088,105 
Other liabilities 43,789 37,317 

Total liabilities 2,289,550 2,292,543 
Shareholders’ equity 209,791 235,720 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,499,341 $ 2,528,263 
Net interest income $ 17,219 $ 12,349  
Net interest margin 3.23 % 2.36 %
Interest spread 1.64 % 2.25 %

1. Balances shown are daily averages.
2. Interest income on loans includes net loan fees of $220,000 and $225,000 for the first quarter of 2023 and 2022, respectively.
3. For purposes of these computations, yields on investment securities are computed as interest income divided by the average amortized cost of the investments.
4. Interest income is presented on a tax-equivalent basis assuming a tax rate of 21% for both 2023 and 2022. The tax-equivalent adjustment was approximately $321,000 and $446,000 for the

first quarter of 2023 and 2022, respectively.

1

2

3

4

1
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Analysis of Net Interest Income Changes

The following tables present the changes in interest income and expense between periods due to changes in volume and interest rates. That portion of the
change in interest attributable to the combined rate/volume variance has been allocated to rate and volume changes in proportion to the absolute dollar
amounts of the change in each.

(In thousands)

First Quarter of 2023 Compared to First Quarter of
2022

Volume Rate Total
Increase (decrease) in interest income:

Loans : $ 1,150 $ 2,308 $ 3,458 
Investment securities:

Taxable 827 1,303 2,130 
Tax-exempt (527) (67) (594)

Short-term investments (111) 3,008 2,897 
Total interest income 1,339 6,552 7,891 
Interest expense on:

Interest-bearing demand deposits (2) 2,690 2,688 
Savings deposits (2) 22 20 
Time deposits >=$100 17 52 69 
Other time deposits 20 151 171 
Short-term borrowings 37 36 73 

Total interest expense 70 2,951 3,021 
Net interest income $ 1,269 $ 3,601 $ 4,870 

1. Interest income includes net loan fees.
2. Interest income is presented on a tax-equivalent basis assuming a tax rate of 21% for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

Provision and Allowance for Credit Losses and Allowance for Unfunded Commitments

The Company recorded a release of credit losses and off-balance sheet credit exposures of $340,000, and a provision for credit losses of $230,000 in the
First Quarter of 2023 and 2022, respectively. The amount of the (release of) provision for credit losses is derived from the Company’s quarterly Current
Expected Credit Loss (“CECL”) model. The amount of the (release of) provision for credit losses will fluctuate as determined by these quarterly analyses.
The release of credit losses in the First Quarter of 2023 was primarily driven by the decrease in loan balances outstanding from December 31, 2022.

The Company experienced no loan charge-offs in the First Quarter of 2023 and 2022. The ACL was $13.3 million at March 31, 2023 compared to $13.5
million at December 31, 2022. The ACL represented 1.24% of outstanding loans at March 31, 2023 and 1.25% of outstanding loans at December 31, 2022.
The allowance for unfunded commitments was $177,000 at March 31, 2023 and $232,000 at December 31, 2022. There were no nonperforming loans
outstanding at March 31, 2023. The Company had one loan that was considered an individually evaluated credit at December 31, 2022, with no specific
allowance. This loan was paid off in full in January 2023.

The ACL has been established and is maintained to estimate the lifetime expected credit losses in the loan portfolio. An ongoing assessment is performed
to determine if the balance is adequate. Charges or credits are made to expense based on changes in the economic forecast, qualitative risk factors, loan
volume, and individual loans. For loans that are individually evaluated, the Company uses two impairment measurement methods: 1) the present value of
expected future cash flows and 2) collateral value.

The Company also utilizes ratio analyses to evaluate the overall reasonableness of the ACL compared to its peers and required levels of regulatory capital.
Federal and state regulatory agencies review the Company’s methodology for maintaining the ACL. These agencies may require the Company to adjust the
ACL based on their judgments and interpretations about information available to them at the time of their examinations.

1

2
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Summary of Credit Loss Experience

The following table presents information on the Company's (release of) provision for credit losses and analysis of the ACL:

First Quarter of

(In thousands) 2023 2022
Allowance for credit losses at beginning of period $ 13,539 $ 12,041 
(Release of) provision for credit losses (285) 365 
Allowance for credit losses at end of period $ 13,254 $ 12,406 

Allowance for unfunded commitments at beginning of period $ 232 $ 367 
(Release of) provision for credit losses (55) (135)
Allowance for unfunded commitments at end of period $ 177 $ 232 

Loans outstanding:   
Average $ 1,076,221 $ 959,851 
March 31 1,070,373 977,203 

Ratio of allowance for credit losses to loans outstanding at March 31 1.24 % 1.27 %

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses for the First Quarter of 2023 increased $8.5 million, or 26.8%, compared to the First Quarter of 2022. The following table details
the components of operating expenses:

(In thousands)
First Quarter of

2023 2022
Salaries and commissions $ 22,605 $ 19,631 
Share-based compensation 1,950 1,340 
Net periodic pension cost (benefit) 135 (618)
Other benefits 5,336 4,365 

Personnel $ 30,026 $ 24,718 
Occupancy 855 915 
Equipment 2,082 1,711 
Amortization of intangible assets 195 135 
Other operating 7,214 4,349 
Total operating expense $ 40,372 $ 31,828 

First Quarter of 2023 compared to First Quarter of 2022:

Personnel expenses increased $5.3 million, or 21.5%. Salaries increased $3.0 million, or 15.1%, as a result of merit increases, wage pressures, and an
increase in average full-time equivalent employees of 13.2% due to the Touchpoint acquisition and strategic investment in various technology initiatives.
Share-based compensation increased $610,000 primarily related to executive succession matters. Pension expense increased $753,000. Despite the
Company’s defined benefit pension plan being frozen in the first quarter of 2021 resulting in no service cost in subsequent periods, expense increased as a
result of the accounting impact of the decline in plan assets during 2022 and corresponding decline in expected return on plan assets for 2023. Other
benefits, such as 401(k) match, health insurance and payroll taxes, increased
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$971,000, or 22.2%, primarily due to the 13.2% increase in average full-time equivalent employees as well as a significant increase in employer health
insurance costs over prior year levels.

Other operating expenses increased $2.9 million, or 65.9%. Certain expense categories such as outside service fees and data processing fees are elevated as
the Company invests in, and transitions to, improved technology. Multiple technology platforms are being maintained prior to switching over to what the
Company believes will be more efficient technology platforms for facility and transportation data entry processing by the end of 2023.

Financial Condition

Total assets at March 31, 2023 were $2.4 billion, a decrease of $145.6 million, or 5.7%, from December 31, 2022.

The Company experienced an increase in cash and cash equivalents of $9.5 million, or 4.7%. The change in cash and cash equivalents reflects the
Company’s daily liquidity position and is primarily affected by changes in funding sources, mainly accounts and drafts payable and deposits, cash flows in
and out of loans, investments securities and payments in advance of funding.

The investment securities portfolio decreased $51.4 million, or 6.8%, during the first three months of 2023. The decrease is primarily due to the sale of
$61.4 million of short-term securities partially offset by purchases of $15.2 million and a decrease in unrealized losses as a result of the decline in market
interest rates during the first quarter of 2023.

Loans decreased $12.5 million, or 1.2%. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in lease financing receivables of $15.7 million.

Payments in advance of funding decreased $34.0 million, or 11.6%. The decrease in the balance is primarily due to a 5.4% decrease in transportation dollar
volumes, which led to fewer dollars advanced to freight carriers.

Accounts and drafts receivable from customers decreased $58.5 million, or 61.1%, from December 31, 2022. The decrease is solely due to timing of
customer funding.

Total liabilities at March 31, 2023 were $2.2 billion, a decrease of $156.8 million, or 6.6%, from December 31, 2022.

Total deposits at March 31, 2023 were $1.1 billion, a decrease of $141.1 million, or 11.2%, from December 31, 2022. The decrease in deposits was
partially due to seasonality with corporate clients making tax and annual bonus payments and fulfilling other operating needs as the Company generally
sees a decline in depository balances during the first quarter. In addition, the Company experienced deposit attrition as larger depository clients moved their
funds to higher interest rate alternates outside of Cass Commercial Bank.

Accounts and drafts payable at March 31, 2023 were $1.1 billion, a decrease of $16.2 million, or 1.5%, from December 31, 2022. The decrease in these
balances, which are non-interest bearing, are primarily reflective of the decrease in transportation dollar volumes of 5.4%, partially offset by the increase in
facility expense dollar volumes of 14.4%. Accounts and drafts payable are a stable source of funding generated by payment float from transportation and
facility clients. Accounts and drafts payable will fluctuate from period-end to period-end due to the payment processing cycle, which results in lower
balances on days when payments clear and higher balances on days when payments are issued. For this reason, average balances are generally a more
meaningful measure of accounts and drafts payable.

Total shareholders’ equity at March 31, 2023 was $217.5 million, an $11.2 million, or 5.4%, increase from December 31, 2022. The increase in
shareholders’ equity is a result of first quarter 2023 earnings and a decrease in accumulated other comprehensive loss of $7.1 million due to the decline in
market interest rates and resulting positive impact on the fair value of available-for-sale investment securities. These increases were partially offset by
dividends paid of $4.0 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The discipline of liquidity management as practiced by the Company seeks to ensure that funds are available to fulfill all payment obligations relating to
invoices processed as they become due and meet depositor withdrawal requests and borrower credit demands while at the same time maximizing
profitability. This is accomplished by balancing changes in demand for funds with changes in supply of funds. Primary liquidity to meet demand is
provided by short-term liquid assets that can be converted to cash, maturing securities and the ability to obtain funds from external sources. The Company's
Asset/Liability Committee has direct oversight responsibility for the Company's liquidity position and profile. Management considers both on-balance
sheet and off-balance sheet items in its evaluation of liquidity.
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The balance of liquid assets consists of cash and cash equivalents, which include cash and due from banks, interest-bearing deposits in other financial
institutions, federal funds sold and money market funds. Cash and cash equivalents totaled $210.5 million at March 31, 2023, an increase of $9.5 million,
or 4.7%, from December 31, 2022. At March 31, 2023, these assets represented 8.7% of total assets and are the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ primary
source of liquidity to meet future expected and unexpected loan demand, depositor withdrawals or reductions in accounts and drafts payable.

Secondary sources of liquidity include the investment portfolio and borrowing lines. Total investment securities were $703.0 million at March 31, 2023, a
decrease of $51.4 million from December 31, 2022. These assets represented 29.0% of total assets at March 31, 2023. Of the total portfolio, 12.3% mature
in one year, 30.9% mature in one to five years, and 56.8% mature in five or more years. The Company expects to generate approximately $232.5 million of
cash flows through amortization and maturities of investment securities within the next 16 months.

The Bank has unsecured lines of credit at six correspondent banks to purchase federal funds up to a maximum of $83.0 million in aggregate. As of
March 31, 2023, the Bank also has secured lines of credit with the Federal Home Loan Bank of $216.1 million collateralized by mortgage loans. The
Company also has secured lines of credit from three banks up to a maximum of $200.0 million in aggregate collateralized by state and political subdivision
securities. There were no amounts outstanding under any line of credit as of March 31, 2023 or December 31, 2022.

The deposits of the Company's banking subsidiary have historically been stable, consisting of a sizable volume of core deposits related to customers that
utilize other commercial products of the Bank, including CassPay and faith-based customers. The accounts and drafts payable generated by the Company
has also historically been a stable source of funds. The Company is part of the Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Service (“CDARS”) and Insured
Cash Sweep (“ICS”) deposit placement programs. Time deposits include $36.9 million of CDARS deposits and interest-bearing demand deposits include
$96.0 million of ICS deposits. These programs offer the Bank’s customers the ability to maximize Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”)
insurance coverage. The Company uses these programs to retain or attract deposits from existing customers.

Net cash flows provided by operating activities were $9.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023, compared to $14.7 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2022, a decrease of $5.4 million. Net cash flows from investing and financing activities fluctuate greatly as the Company actively
manages its investment and loan portfolios and customer activity influences changes in deposit and accounts and drafts payable balances. Other causes for
the changes in these account balances are discussed earlier in this report. Due to the daily fluctuations in these account balances, the analysis of changes in
average balances, also discussed earlier in this report, can be more indicative of underlying activity than the period-end balances used in the statements of
cash flows. Management anticipates that cash and cash equivalents, maturing investments and cash from operations will continue to be sufficient to fund
the Company’s operations and capital expenditures in 2023, which are estimated to range from $8 million to $10 million.

Net income plus amortization of intangible assets, net amortization of premium/discount on investment securities and depreciation of premises and
equipment was $8.5 million and $10.1 million for the three-months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, a decrease of $1.6 million. The decrease
was due to the decrease in net income of $1.1 million and decrease in net amortization of premium/discount on investment securities of $529,000. The net
amortization of premium/discount on investment securities is dependent on the type of securities purchased and changes in the prevailing market interest
rate environment.

Other factors impacting the $5.4 million decrease in net cash provided by operating activities include:
• A decrease in other operating activities, net of $3.1 million, primarily due to changes in various accounts receivable and payable;
• An increase in accounts receivable of $1.2 million due to the timing of customer payments; and
• A change in the (release of) provision for credit losses of $570,000 primarily due to changes in loans outstanding during the respective periods.

These factors were partially offset by:
• An increase in stock-based compensation expense of $610,000 primarily related to executive succession matters; and
• An increase in the pension liability of $741,000.

The Company faces market risk to the extent that its net interest income and fair market value of equity are affected by changes in market interest rates. For
information regarding the market risk of the Company’s financial instruments, see Item 3, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.”
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There are several trends and uncertainties that may impact the Company’s ability to generate revenues and income at the levels that it has in the past. In
addition, these trends and uncertainties may impact available liquidity. Those that could significantly impact the Company include the general levels of
interest rates, business activity, inflation, and energy costs as well as new business opportunities available to the Company.

As a financial institution, a significant source of the Company’s earnings is generated from net interest income. Therefore, the prevailing interest rate
environment is important to the Company’s performance. A major portion of the Company’s funding sources are the non interest-bearing accounts and
drafts payable generated from its payment and information processing services. Accordingly, higher levels of interest rates will generally allow the
Company to earn more net interest income. Conversely, a lower interest rate environment will generally tend to depress net interest income. The Company
actively manages its balance sheet in an effort to maximize net interest income as the interest rate environment changes. If the primary source of liquidity is
reduced in a low interest rate environment, a greater reliance would be placed on secondary sources of liquidity including borrowing lines, the ability of the
Bank to generate deposits, and the investment portfolio to ensure overall liquidity remains at acceptable levels.

The overall level of economic activity can have a significant impact on the Company’s ability to generate revenues and income, as the volume and size of
customer invoices processed may increase or decrease. Lower levels of economic activity decrease both fee income (as fewer invoices are processed) and
balances of accounts and drafts payable (as fewer invoices are processed) from the Company's transportation customers

The relative level of energy costs can impact the Company’s earnings and available liquidity. Lower levels of energy costs will tend to decrease
transportation and energy invoice amounts resulting in a corresponding decrease in accounts and drafts payable. Decreases in accounts and drafts payable
generate lower interest income and reduce liquidity.

New business opportunities are an important component of the Company’s strategy to grow earnings and improve performance. Generating new customers
allows the Company to leverage existing systems and facilities and grow revenues faster than expenses.

As a bank holding company, the Company and the Bank are subject to capital requirements pursuant to the FRB’s capital guidelines which include (i) risk-
based capital guidelines, which are designed to make capital requirements more sensitive to various risk profiles and account for off-balance sheet
exposure; (ii) guidelines that consider market risk, which is the risk of loss due to change in value of assets and liabilities due to changes in interest rates;
and (iii) guidelines that use a leverage ratio which places a constraint on the maximum degree of risk to which a financial holding company may leverage
its equity capital base.

The Basel III Capital Rules require banking organizations, like Cass, to maintain:

• a minimum ratio of common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 4.5%, plus a 2.5% capital conservation buffer (resulting in a
minimum common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 7.0%);

• a minimum ratio of Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 6.0%, plus a 2.5% capital conservation buffer (resulting in a minimum Tier 1
capital ratio of 8.5%);

• a minimum ratio of total capital (that is, Tier 1 plus Tier 2 capital) to risk-weighted assets of at least 8.0%, plus the 2.5% capital conservation
buffer (resulting in a minimum total capital ratio of 10.5%); and

• a minimum leverage ratio of 4.0%, calculated as the ratio of Tier 1 capital to adjusted average consolidated assets.

The capital conservation buffer is designed to absorb losses during periods of economic stress. Banking institutions with a ratio of common equity Tier 1
capital to risk-weighted assets above the minimum but below the conservation buffer will face limitations on the payment of dividends, common stock
repurchases and discretionary cash payments to executive officers based on the amount of the shortfall.

Common equity Tier 1 capital is generally defined as common stockholders’ equity and retained earnings. Tier 1 capital is generally defined as common
equity Tier 1 and Additional Tier 1 capital. Additional Tier 1 capital generally includes certain noncumulative perpetual preferred stock and related surplus
and minority interests in equity accounts of consolidated subsidiaries. Total capital includes Tier 1 capital (common equity Tier 1 capital plus Additional
Tier 1 capital) and Tier 2 capital. Tier 2 capital is comprised of capital instruments and related surplus meeting specified requirements. Also included in
Tier 2 capital is the allowance for credit losses limited to a maximum of 1.25% of risk-weighted assets and, for non-advanced approaches institutions like
Cass that have exercised a one-time opt-out election regarding the treatment of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, up to 45% of net unrealized
gains on available-for-sale equity securities with readily determinable fair market values.
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The calculation of all types of regulatory capital is subject to deductions and adjustments specified in the regulations. For instance, the Basel III Capital
Rules and the Capital Simplification Rules provide for a number of deductions from and adjustments to common equity Tier 1 capital. These include, for
example, the requirement that certain deferred tax assets and significant investments in non-consolidated financial entities be deducted from Tier 1 capital
to the extent that any one such category exceeds 25% of common equity Tier 1 capital.

In determining the amount of risk-weighted assets for purposes of calculating risk-based capital ratios, all assets, including certain off-balance sheet assets,
are multiplied by a risk weight factor assigned by the regulations based on the risks believed inherent in the type of asset. Higher levels of capital are
required for asset categories believed to present greater risk. For example, a risk weight of 0% is assigned to cash and U.S. government securities, a risk
weight of 50% is generally assigned to prudently underwritten first lien one to four-family residential mortgages, a risk weight of 100% is assigned to
commercial and consumer loans, a risk weight of 150% is assigned to certain past due loans, and a risk weight of between 0% to 600% is assigned to
permissible equity interests, depending on certain specified factors.

The Company and the Bank continue to exceed all regulatory capital requirements, as evidenced by the following capital amounts and ratios:

Actual
Capital

 Requirements
Requirement to be

 Well-Capitalized
(In thousands) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
At March 31, 2023
Total capital (to risk-weighted assets)

Cass Information Systems, Inc. $ 261,432 14.49 % $ 144,307 8.00 % $        N/A N/A %
Cass Commercial Bank 184,901 15.98 92,549 8.00 115,686 10.00 

Common Equity Tier I Capital (to risk-weighted
assets)

Cass Information Systems, Inc. 248,178 13.76 81,172 4.50 N/A N/A
Cass Commercial Bank 172,384 14.90 52,059 4.50 75,196 6.50 

Tier I capital (to risk-weighted assets)
Cass Information Systems, Inc. 248,178 13.76 108,230 6.00 N/A N/A
Cass Commercial Bank 172,384 14.90 69,412 6.00 92,549 8.00 

Tier I capital (to average assets)
Cass Information Systems, Inc. 248,178 10.01 99,124 4.00 N/A N/A
Cass Commercial Bank 172,384 11.30 61,009 4.00 76,261 5.00 

At December 31, 2022
Total capital (to risk-weighted assets)

Cass Information Systems, Inc. $ 257,313 13.52 % $ 152,306 8.00 % $        N/A N/A %
Cass Commercial Bank 186,075 16.00 93,044 8.00 116,305 10.00 

Common Equity Tier I Capital (to risk-weighted
assets)

Cass Information Systems, Inc. 243,774 12.80 85,672 4.50 N/A N/A
Cass Commercial Bank 172,848 14.86 52,337 4.50 75,598 6.50 

Tier I capital (to risk-weighted assets)
Cass Information Systems, Inc. 243,774 12.80 114,229 6.00 N/A N/A
Cass Commercial Bank 172,848 14.86 69,783 6.00 93,044 8.00 

Tier I capital (to average assets)
Cass Information Systems, Inc. 243,771 9.52 102,386 4.00 N/A N/A
Cass Commercial Bank 172,848 10.77 64,196 4.00 80,245 5.00 
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Impact of Inflation

Inflation could have the impact of increasing operating expenses, such as compensation expense. Inflationary pressures may also have an impact on total
assets, earnings and capital, which could impact the Company's ability to grow. During 2021 and 2022, supply chain disruption, rising energy prices and
inflation, among other factors, had the impact of increasing the average balance of accounts and drafts payable and total assets. An increase in total assets
could have the impact of decreasing our regulatory capital ratios if earnings and total regulatory capital do not increase at the same rate.

As a result of rising inflation, the Federal Reserve increased the Federal Funds rate over the course of 2022 and into the first quarter of 2023. The increase
in the Federal Funds rate has contributed to the increase in the Company's net interest margin, therefore positively impacting net interest income. There can
be no assurance that further increases in the Federal Funds rate will occur, and the Company continues to monitor such impact to its future levels of net
interest income.

Impact of New and Not Yet Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-02. This ASU eliminates the accounting guidance for troubled debt restructurings by creditors that have
adopted the CECL methodology for estimating allowances for credit losses and enhances the disclosure requirements for loan restructurings made with
borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. Instead, entities are required to evaluate (consistent with the accounting for other loan modifications) whether
the modification represents a new loan or continuation of an existing loan. In addition, the amendments require a public business entity to disclose current
period gross charge-offs for financing receivables and net investment in leases by year of origination in the vintage disclosures. ASU 2022-02 was effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The implementation of this ASU effective January
1, 2023 did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company manages its interest rate risk through
measurement techniques that include gap analysis and a simulation model. As part of the risk management process, asset/liability management policies are
established and monitored by management.

The following table summarizes simulated changes in net interest income versus unchanged rates over the next 12 months as of March 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022.

% change in projected net interest income
March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

+200 basis points 10.8 % 10.6 %
+100 basis points 4.7 % 4.2 %
Flat rates — % — %
-100 basis points (1.1)% — %
-200 basis points (1.3)% (1.5)%

The Company is generally asset sensitive as average interest-earning assets of $2.16 billion for the first quarter of 2023 greatly exceeded average interest-
bearing liabilities of $596.9 million. The table above on the projected impact of interest rate shocks results from a static balance sheet at March 31, 2023.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company’s management, under the supervision and with the participation of the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the period covered by this report and concluded that, as of such date, these controls and procedures
were effective.

There were no changes in the First Quarter of 2023 in the Company's internal control over financial reporting identified by the Company’s principal
executive officer and principal financial officer in connection with their evaluation that materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended).
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is the subject of various pending or threatened legal actions and proceedings, including those that arise in the ordinary course of business.
Management believes the outcome of all such proceedings will not have a material effect on the businesses or financial conditions of the Company or its
subsidiaries.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Company has included in Part I, Item 1A of its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, a description of certain risks and
uncertainties that could affect the Company’s business, future performance or financial condition (the “Risk Factors”). Except as set forth below, there are
no material changes to the Risk Factors as disclosed in the Company’s 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company could experience an unexpected inability to obtain needed liquidity which could adversely affect the Company's business,
profitability, and viability as a going concern.

Liquidity measures the ability to meet current and future cash flow needs as they become due. The liquidity of a financial institution reflects its ability to
meet loan requests, to accommodate possible outflows in deposits, and to take advantage of interest rate market opportunities and is essential to a financial
institution’s business. The ability of a financial institution to meet its current financial obligations is a function of its balance sheet structure, its ability to
liquidate assets, and its access to alternative sources of funds. The bank failures in March 2023 exemplify the potential serious results of the unexpected
inability of insured depository institutions to obtain needed liquidity to satisfy deposit withdrawal requests, including how quickly such requests can
accelerate once uninsured depositors lose confidence in an institution's ability to satisfy its obligations to depositors. The Company seeks to ensure funding
needs are met by maintaining a level of liquidity through asset and liability management. If the Company becomes unable to obtain funds when needed, it
could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Recent negative developments affecting the banking industry, and resulting media coverage, have eroded customer confidence in the banking
system.

The recent high-profile bank failures involving Silicon Valley Bank, Signature Bank, and First Republic Bank have generated significant market volatility
among publicly traded bank holding companies. These market developments have negatively impacted customer confidence in the safety and soundness of
regional banks. As a result, customers may choose to maintain deposits with larger financial institutions or invest in higher yielding short-term fixed
income securities, all of which could materially adversely impact the Company’s liquidity, loan funding capacity, net interest margin, capital and results of
operations. While the Department of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve, and the FDIC have made statements ensuring that depositors of these recently failed
banks would have access to their deposits, including uninsured deposit accounts, there is no guarantee that such actions will be successful in restoring
customer confidence in regional banks and the banking system more broadly.

Rising interest rates have decreased the value of the Company’s available-for-sale securities portfolio, and the Company would realize losses if it
were required to sell such securities to meet liquidity needs.

As a result of inflationary pressures and the resulting rapid increases in interest rates over the last year, the fair value of previously issued government and
other fixed income securities has declined significantly, resulting in unrealized losses. While the Company does not currently intend to sell these securities,
if the Company were required to sell such securities to meet liquidity needs, it may incur losses, which could impair the Company’s capital, financial
condition, and results of operations and require the Company to raise additional capital on unfavorable terms, thereby negatively impacting its profitability.
While the Company has taken actions to maximize its funding sources, there is no guarantee that such actions will be successful or sufficient in the event of
sudden liquidity needs. Furthermore, while the Federal Reserve Board has announced a Bank Term Funding Program available to eligible depository
institutions secured by U.S. Treasuries, agency debt, mortgage-backed securities, and other qualifying assets as collateral at par to mitigate the risk of
potential losses on the sale of such instruments, there is no guarantee that such programs will be effective in addressing liquidity needs as they arise.

Any regulatory examination scrutiny or new regulatory requirements arising from the recent events in the banking industry could increase the
Company’s expenses and affect the Company’s operations.
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The Company anticipates increased regulatory scrutiny and new regulations designed to address the recent negative developments in the banking industry,
all of which may increase the Company’s costs of doing business and reduce its profitability. Among other things, there may be an increased focus by
regulators on deposit composition and the level of uninsured deposits. As primarily a commercial bank, the Bank has a higher degree of uninsured deposits
compared to larger national banks or smaller community banks with a stronger focus on retail deposits. As a result, the Bank could face increased scrutiny
or be viewed as higher risk.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

(a) None.
(b) There have been no material changes to the procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to the Company’s Board of Directors

implemented in the First Quarter of 2023.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit 10.1 Amended and Restated Omnibus Stock and Performance Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the current report
on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on April 21, 2023.*

Exhibit 10.2 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Employees, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the current report on Form 8-K, filed
with the SEC on April 21, 2023.*

Exhibit 10.3 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Non-Employee Directors.

Exhibit 31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Exhibit 31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Exhibit 32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Exhibit 32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Exhibit 101.INS XBRL Instance Document. The instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded
within the Inline XBRL document.

Exhibit 101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
Exhibit 101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
Exhibit 101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
Exhibit 101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
Exhibit 101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
Exhibit 104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
*Management contract or compensatory plan arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CASS INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC.
  

DATE: May 9, 2023 By /s/ Martin H. Resch
Martin H. Resch

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

DATE: May 9, 2023 By /s/ Michael J. Normile
Michael J. Normile

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.3

CASS INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC.
2023 OMNIBUS STOCK AND PERFORMANCE COMPENSATION PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT
Participant Name:     

 Date of Grant:     
 Number of Restricted Shares subject to this Award:     

We are pleased to inform you that, as a director of Cass Information Systems, Inc. (“Cass” or “the Company”) or one of its
Subsidiaries, you are granted an Award of Restricted Shares (“Shares”) under the Cass Information Systems, Inc. 2023 Omnibus
Stock and Performance Compensation Plan (the “Plan”). Each Share under this Award represents one share of Cass common
stock, $0.50 par value per share. This Award Agreement is subject to your acceptance as provided in Section 1 below and the
terms and conditions that follow in this Award Agreement.

The date of the Award evidenced by this Award Agreement (the “Date of Grant”) is set forth above.

The terms and conditions of this Award Agreement, including non-standard provisions permitted by the Plan, are set forth below.

1. Acceptance of Award. This Award Agreement is to be accepted by signing your name on the signature page of this
Award Agreement and causing it to be delivered to the Secretary of Cass, 12444 Powerscourt Drive, Suite 550, St. Louis,
MO 63131, before 4:30 p.m. Central time on the 30th day after the Date of Grant. If the Secretary does not receive your
properly signed copy of this Award Agreement before the time and date specified in the previous sentence, then, despite
anything else provided in this Agreement, this Award will be void as if it was never awarded to you and will be of no
effect. Your signing and timely delivering of this Award Agreement will evidence your acceptance on the terms and
conditions stated in this Award Agreement.

2. Vesting and Forfeiture of Restricted Stock. Your Award Shares will vest and become immediately transferrable on
______________ (“Vesting Date”), which is ______________ from the date of grant (“Restriction Period”), if you remain
in service of Cass through the Vesting Date, the Restriction Period will lapse with respect to the Award Shares and Cass
shall deliver the Shares to you effective on the Vesting Date. Cass shall deliver the Shares to you as explained in Section 3
of this Award Agreement.

3. Issuance of Restricted Shares. Shares shall be held in book entry form on the books of Cass’s depository (or another
institution specified by Cass) subject to the restrictions of this Award Agreement until such time the Shares have Vested,
as explained in Section 2. or vest as a result of your death, Total Disability or a Change in Control, as explained in
Section 4. As soon as practicable following the lapse of restriction provisions and subsequent Vesting of Shares, Cass
shall give transfer instructions to the institution holding the Shares in book entry form so that the Shares are transferred to
you or your designated beneficiary, if applicable, without restriction.

You hereby (i) acknowledge that Shares may be held in book entry form on the books of Cass’s depository (or another
institution specified by Cass), (ii) irrevocably authorize Cass to take such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to
effect a transfer or cancellation of the record ownership of any such Unvested Shares that are forfeited in accordance with
this Award Agreement, (iii) agree to take such other actions as Cass may
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reasonably request to accomplish the forfeiture of any Unvested Shares that are forfeited under this Award Agreement,
and (iv) authorize Cass to cause such Shares to be cancelled or transferred in the event they are forfeited pursuant to this
Award Agreement. For the purposes of this Award Agreement, “Unvested Shares” shall mean these shares that were not
yet vested pursuant to the terms of this Award Agreement.

4. Effect of Death, Total Disability or Change of Control. If you die while in the service of Cass or its Subsidiaries, the
Restriction Period will lapse with respect to all outstanding Restricted Shares and Cass shall deliver the Shares subject to
this Award Agreement to your Designated Beneficiary or as provided in Section 6 if a Beneficiary has not been
designated, has died or cannot be located. Subsequently, such Shares shall not be subject to forfeiture after your death. If
you become Totally Disabled or a Change of Control occurs, that results in termination of service, while you are in the
service of Cass or its Subsidiaries, the Restriction Period will lapse with respect to all outstanding Restricted Shares and
Cass shall deliver the Shares subject to this Award Agreement to you. Subsequently, such Shares shall not be subject to
forfeiture after the occurrence of your Total Disability or a Change of Control occurs, that results in termination of service
and such shares shall be delivered in the same manner as provided in this Section 2.

5. Termination of Service. If your service with Cass or any of its Subsidiaries terminates, as described in Section 7, prior to
the vesting of Shares in accordance with Section 2 other than by reason of your death, Total Disability, or after a Change
of Control, you shall forfeit all such Shares.

6. Restrictions. In association with the other terms of this Agreement and in accordance with the Plan, the Shares shall be
subject to the following restrictions:

a. Neither (i) the Shares or any interest in them, (ii) the right to vote the Shares, (iii) the right to receive dividends on
the Shares, or (iv) any other rights under this Agreement may be sold, transferred, donated, exchanged, pledged,
hypothecated, assigned, or otherwise transferred, alienated or encumbered, by operation of law or otherwise, until
(and then only to the extent of) the Shares are delivered to you or, in the event of your death, your Designated
Beneficiary or Beneficiaries or testamentary transferee or transferees.

b. You shall have, with respect to the Restricted Shares, all of the rights of a holder of Shares, including the right to
vote such Shares and to earn any cash dividends thereon, except as otherwise provided in the Plan. Additional
Shares of Cass common stock resulting from adjustments under Section XII of the Plan with respect to Shares
subject to this Agreement shall be treated as additional Shares subject to the same restrictions and other terms of
this Award Agreement. Cash dividends accrued on Unvested Shares shall be retained by Cass until the underlying
Shares have vested and restrictions lifted and shall be payable subject to fulfillment of the terms and conditions of
this Agreement. Such dividends are taxable to you as compensation income, and not dividend income, and are
deductible by Cass or its Subsidiaries for income tax purposes as compensation income.

c. During your lifetime, Shares shall only be delivered to you. Any Shares transferred in accordance with this
Agreement shall continue to be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Any transfer permitted
under this Agreement shall be promptly reported in writing to Cass’s Secretary.
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d. You may designate a beneficiary or beneficiaries (“Designated Beneficiary or Beneficiaries”) on the Designated
Beneficiary form attached to this Agreement to receive Shares which vest on your death. If you do not complete
the Beneficiary Designation form or if, after your death, your Designated Beneficiary or Beneficiaries has or have
died or cannot be located, Shares which become vested on your death shall be transferred in accordance with your
will or, if you have no will, in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

7. Effect of Other Causes of Termination of Service. If your service with Cass or any of its Subsidiaries terminates, as
described in this Section 7, prior to the vesting of Shares in accordance with Section 2, you shall forfeit all such Unvested
Shares:

a. Your service by a Subsidiary of Cass shall be considered terminated on the date that the company for which you
serve is no longer a Subsidiary of Cass, for reasons other than a Change in Control.

b. Notwithstanding anything in this Award Agreement to the contrary, if your service with Cass or a Subsidiary is
Terminated for Cause, you shall forfeit all Shares for no consideration, including any Shares that have vested in
accordance with Section 2.

8. Transfer of Service; Leave of Absence. A transfer of your service from Cass to a Subsidiary or vice versa, or from one
Subsidiary to another, without an intervening period, shall not be deemed a termination of service. If you are granted an
authorized leave of absence, you shall be deemed to have remained in the service of the company of which you serve as a
director during such leave of absence.

9. Tax Matters.

a. Federal Income tax withholding (and state and local income tax withholding, if applicable) may be required with
respect to the taxation of income realized when restrictions are removed from the Shares or in the event you make
the Section 83(b) election described in Section 21. You agree to deliver to Cass only the amounts the Committee
determines should be withheld, provided, however, that you may pay a portion or all of such withholding taxes by
electing to have (i) Cass withhold a portion of the Shares that would otherwise be delivered to you or (ii) you can
deliver to Cass Shares that you have owned for at least six months, in either case, having a Fair Market Value (as
of the date that the amount of taxes is to be withheld) in the sum of the amount to be withheld plus reasonable
expenses of selling such Shares, and provided further that your election shall be irrevocable and subject to the
approval of the Committee.

b. You should consult with your tax advisor regarding the tax consequences of receiving shares and making the
Section 83(b) election described in Section 21.

10. No Right to Continued Service. Nothing contained in this Award Agreement or the Plan shall confer any right to
continue in the service of Cass or any of its Subsidiaries or limit in any way the right of Cass or a Subsidiary to change
your compensation or other benefits or to terminate your service with or without Cause.

11. Listing: Securities Considerations. Despite anything else in this Award Agreement, if at any time the Board determines,
in its sole discretion, the listing, registration or qualification (or an updating of any such document) of the Shares issuable
under this Agreement is necessary on any securities exchange or under any federal or state securities
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or blue sky law, or that the consent or approval of any governmental regulatory body is necessary or desirable as a
condition of, or in connection with the issuance of the Shares, or the removal of any restrictions imposed on such Shares,
such Shares shall not be issued, in whole or in part, or the restrictions on the Shares removed, unless such listing,
registration, qualifications, consent or approval shall have been effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable
to Cass.

12. Clawback Policy. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, in the event Cass materially restates its financial
statements, the Compensation Committee shall have the discretion to rescind, revoke, adjust or otherwise modify the
award. Such action will be taken consistent with the Compensation Committee’s governing Clawback Policy, a copy of
which is available from the Secretary of Cass upon request.

13. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding on the parties to this Agreement and their
respective heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives and successors. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, whenever the term “you” is used in any provision of this Agreement under circumstances where the provision
appropriately applies to the heirs, executors, administrators, or legal representatives to whom Shares may be transferred
by the Beneficiary Designation, will or the laws of descent and distribution, the term “you” shall be deemed to include
such person or persons.

14. Plan Provisions Govern.

a. This award is subject to the terms, conditions, restrictions and other provisions of the Plan as if all those
provisions were set forth in their entirety in this Award Agreement. If any provision of this Award Agreement
conflicts with a provision of the Plan, the Plan provision shall control.

b. You acknowledge that a copy of the Plan and a prospectus summarizing the Plan was distributed or made available
to you and that you were advised to review that material before entering into this Award Agreement. You waive
the right to claim that the provisions of the Plan are not binding on you and your heirs, executors, administrators,
legal representatives and successors.

c. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Award Agreement have the meanings given those terms in the Plan.

d. By your signature below, you represent that you are familiar with the terms and provisions of the Plan, and hereby
accept this Award Agreement subject to all of the terms and provisions of the Plan. You have reviewed the Plan
and this Award Agreement in their entirety and fully understand all provisions of the Plan and this Award
Agreement. You agree to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the Committee
on any questions arising under the Plan or this Award Agreement.

15. Governing Law and Venue. This Award Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of
the State of Missouri despite any laws of that state that would apply the laws of a different state. In the event of litigation
arising in connection with this Award Agreement and/or the Plan, the parties hereto agree to submit to the jurisdiction of
state and Federal courts located in Missouri.

16. Severability. If any term or provision of this Award Agreement, or the application of this Award Agreement to any person
or circumstance, shall at any time or to any extent
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be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect as written, both parties intend for any court construing this Award
Agreement to modify or limit that provision so as to render it valid and enforceable to the fullest extent allowed by law.
Any provision that is not susceptible of reformation shall be ignored so as to not affect any other term or provision of this
Award Agreement, and the remainder of this Award Agreement, or the application of that term or provision to persons of
circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby and
each term and provision of this Award Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

17. Entire Agreement; Modification. The Plan and this Award Agreement contain the entire agreement between the parties
with respect to the subject matter contained in this Award Agreement and it may not be modified, except as provided in
the Plan, as it may be amended from time to time in the manner provided in the Plan, or in this Award Agreement, as it
may be amended from time to time by a written document signed by each of the parties to this Award Agreement. Any
oral or written agreements, representations, warranties, written inducements, or other communications with respect to the
subject matter contained in this Award Agreement made before the signing of this Award Agreement shall be void and
ineffective for all purposes.

18. Counterparts. This Award Agreement may be executed simultaneously in two or more counterparts, each of which shall
constitute an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same Award Agreement.

19. Descriptive Headings. The descriptive headings of this Award Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not
constitute a part of this Award Agreement.

20. Notices; Electronic Delivery. All notices, demands or other communications to be given or delivered under or by reason
of the provisions of this Award Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered
personally; mailed by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid; delivered by a nationally
recognized overnight delivery service or sent by facsimile and confirmed by first class mail, to the recipient. Such notices,
demands and other communications shall be sent to the parties at the addresses indicated below:

a. If to you:    _____________________
_____________________
_____________________

b. If to the Company:    Secretary
Cass Information Systems, Inc.
12444 Powerscourt Drive, Suite 550
St. Louis, Missouri 63131

or to such other address or to the attention of such other party as the recipient party has specified by prior written notice to
the sending party. You agree during the term of this Award Agreement to keep Cass informed of your current mailing
address and of receiving written notice from Cass in accordance with this Section 20. In lieu of receiving documents in
paper format, you agree, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to accept electronic delivery of any documents that may be
required to be delivered to you (including, but not limited to, prospectuses, prospectus supplements, grant or award
notifications and agreements, account statements, annual and quarterly reports, and all other forms of communications) in
connection with this and any other award made or offered by Cass. Electronic delivery may be via electronic mail system
or by reference to
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a location on a Cass intranet to which you have access. You hereby consent to any and all procedures Cass has established
or may establish for an electronic signature system for delivery and acceptance of any such documents that may be
required to be delivered to you, and agree that your electronic signature is the same as, and shall have the same force and
effect as, your manual signature.

21. Section 83(b) Election. In the event you make an election under Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, with respect to the Shares, the parties hereto shall cooperate to insure such election is effective.

22. Authority to Receive Payments. Any amount payable to or for the benefit of a minor, an incompetent person or other
person incapable of receiving such payment shall be deemed paid when paid to the conservator of such person’s estate or
to the party providing or reasonably appearing to provide for the care of such person, and such payment shall fully
discharge Cass and Members of the Committee and the Board with respect thereto.

23. Data Privacy. By executing this Award Agreement and participating in the Plan, you hereby explicitly and
unambiguously consent to the collection, use, processing and transfer, in electronic or other form, of personal data by and
among, as applicable, administrative agents and Cass and other subsidiaries for the exclusive purpose of implementing,
administering and managing your participation in the Plan. You understand that administrative agents, Cass, and other
subsidiaries may hold certain personal information about you, including your name, home address and telephone number,
date of birth, social security number or other identification number, salary/compensation, nationality, job title, any stock
or directorships held in Cass, details of shares awarded, canceled, purchased or outstanding in your favor, for the purpose
of managing and administering the Plan. You further understand that some or all related data may be transferred to any
third parties assisting Cass in the implementation, administration and management of the Plan. You understand that these
recipients may be located in your country of residence, or elsewhere, and that the recipient’s country may have different
data privacy laws and protections than your country of residence. You authorize the recipients to receive, possess, use,
retain and transfer related data, in electronic or other form, for the purposes of implementing, administering and managing
your participation in the Plan. You understand that withdrawing your consent may affect your ability to participate in the
Plan.

[Signature Page Follows]
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In Witness Whereof, the parties have caused this Agreement to be signed and delivered as of the day and year first above written.

CASS INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC. PARTICIPANT

Signature Signature
By:    ______    Date:
Title:        
Date:
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Martin H. Resch, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Cass Information Systems, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: May 9, 2023
/s/ Martin H. Resch

Martin H. Resch
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Michael J. Normile, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Cass Information Systems, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: May 9, 2023
/s/ Michael J. Normile

Michael J. Normile
Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Cass Information Systems, Inc. (“the Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2023 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Martin H. Resch, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Martin H. Resch
Martin H. Resch
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
May 9, 2023

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Cass Information Systems, Inc. and will be retained by Cass
Information Systems, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Cass Information Systems, Inc. (“the Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2023 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael J. Normile, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Michael J. Normile
Michael J. Normile
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
May 9, 2023

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Cass Information Systems, Inc. and will be retained by Cass
Information Systems, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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